O/a 6-6-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 20 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Deputy Clerk

DERINDA EDWARDS,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Respondent.)
 _____)

Case No. 73,286

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
The Governmental Center
301 N. Olive Ave. - 9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

ALLEN J. DeWEESE
Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arises under this Court's "conflict" jurisdiction. Jurisdiction was accepted by order of this Court filed February 23, 1989.

The opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal under review addressed three issues. The first issue involved Petitioner's attempt to cross examine a state witness on her prolonged use of drugs.

The witness was Sandra Day, the victim, who received knife wounds in a fight with Petitioner. Day testified that the fight occurred on the street shortly after Day received a visit from Mann Latimore, with whom Day said she had been "involved" at one time (R 57, 66, 72-76). Latimore's wife testified for the defense that Latimore had previously had an affair with Petitioner, who had worked for him as a secretary, and that he was currently having an affair with Day (R 283-285). Day testified that her involvement with Latimore had cooled down before the incident (R 57), while Petitioner testified on her own behalf that her affair with him had ended a year and a half before but that Day's had continued (R 305-306).

Day testified that both she and Petitioner had been at the Latimores' home earlier on the evening of the incident. Day went there to ask for some eyedrops, and Petitioner was there and said there weren't any (R 63-64). Day turned around and walked out (R 65).

Shortly after Day returned home, Latimore went over to her house and sat and talked for 30 to **45** minutes. During this period Petitioner called three or four times for Latimore. Day hung up and told Petitioner she couldn't speak to Latimore. Day told Latimore to leave (R 66-69).

After Latimore left, Day walked down to a nearby "drug corner" to look for her son (R 70). She found him and told him to go home (R 71). She met Petitioner on the street as she headed back home (R 72).

Day testified that Petitioner said something to her about Latimore and then pulled a knife (R 72). Day picked up a "strip" from a trash pile and knocked the knife out of Petitioner's hand (R 75). They started fist-fighting. They fought for about five minutes. Then Petitioner picked the knife up off the ground and cut Day on the hand and face (R 76).

As Day left the scene, she told Petitioner not to be there when she came back. Petitioner told Day to stay out of her business (R 77). Day stated that she hit Petitioner one or two times with the "strip" before knocking the knife out of her hand (R 78). (At the scene the police found a PVC pipe with blood on it (R 199, 205).)

The defense proffered its proposed cross examination of Day concerning her drug use. On the proffer, Day testified that she had been using drugs -- alcohol, heroin, and cocaine -- for 20 years (R 91-92). She had started snorting and injecting heroin ten years ago (R 92). She had been "clean" for an interval of several years (R 91). In 1985 and 1986 she had been using

cocaine until she went into a drug program in June, 1986 (R 90-91). In January of 1986 she had gotten into a methadone program for heroin addiction and had "detoxed out" in June (R 94).

Day stated that in June 1986 she was not using drugs (R 90). (The incident in the instant case occurred in November (R 451).) She started back injecting heroin in December (R 94). She stated that at the time of her testimony she was not on any drugs. However, a week earlier she had taken bromocryptine, a prescribed medication for her craving for heroin and cocaine (R 95).

On examination by the state on the proffer, Day testified that she did not take any drugs between June and the time she got cut, although she had "a drink." She was a member of Hope Without Dope and went to Narcotics Anonymous meetings. She did not feel the effects of not taking drugs nor go through withdrawal. During November she had no problems with drugs or alcohol (R 96-97). When she went into surgery for her cuts near the end of December, the doctor noticed fresh needle marks from drug use (R 97-98).

The defense argued to the trial court that it should be allowed to argue to the jury that based on Day's testimony she was not a credible witness and that her drug use would impair her ability to perceive and remember. The defense argued that because Day had been on and off drugs she was not cured. Day interjected, "You're never cured" (R 99-100).

The trial court excluded the proffered testimony and ruled that the defense could question Day only about drug use on the days preceeding and the night of the incident. The later drug use could not be brought out unless there was some indication that Day didn't know what she was saying in her testimony or that the drugs she said she had taken a week before had some effect on her ability to remember (R 101-102).

In ruling on the trial court's exclusion of cross examination on Day's drug use, the District Court of Appeal stated that evidence is admissible for impeachment that a witness took drugs either when testifying or at the time of the incident involved; however, the court refused to "extend," as it put it, this rule to permit cross examination of the victim to show that her drug use and treatment, which occurred prior to the time of the offense, adversely or detrimentally affected her recollection of the events in question (page 2 of opinion, in Appendix).

The second issue addressed by the District Court of Appeal concerned the defense's impeachment of another state witness, James Jackson. Jackson testified for the state that he saw Petitioner in a bar in the evening prior to the incident. Petitioner came in and sat beside him (R 13). She was upset and crying and spoke about Latimore and Day. She pulled a knife out of her pocket and said she was going to hurt Day (R 14-16). She was drinking (R 17, 20-21). After 15 or 20 minutes Jackson went to the rest room, and when he came back Petitioner was gone (R 19).

The defense proffered cross examination of Jackson concerning his bias against Petitioner arising from Petitioner's role in an incident which led to the death of a friend of Jackson's. Jackson stated that he believed that it was Petitioner's fault that his friend was shot dead by another man (R 23-24). Defense counsel then requested the trial court to exclude further testimony that the other man had fired and hit Jackson's friend as a bystander when Petitioner pulled a knife on the other man (R 24). The defense argued that evidence of Petitioner's prior use of a knife would be improper "Williams Rule" evidence (R 29-33). The court, however, ruled that if the defense brought in the cross examination on the previous incident, then it would be "opening the door" to the further evidence that Petitioner used a knife (R 34).

The defense then went ahead with its proposed cross examination (R 45-47), and on redirect the prosecution brought forth the fact that Petitioner cut with a knife the man who did the shooting (R 48-50).

The District Court of Appeal stated on this issue that Petitioner had sufficient warning that she would "open the door" if she brought up the prior incident. The court stated that Petitioner could not initiate error and then seek reversal based on that error.

The remaining issue in the appeal to the District Court of Appeal concerned testimony by two police officers and a physician as to the details and extent of Day's injuries. Petitioner argued

that admission of this evidence was error because she was charged with aggravated battery committed with a deadly weapon rather than aggravated battery causing great bodily harm (R 238).

Over defense objection, one officer was allowed to testify that Day had a cut and much blood on the right side of her face, and that one of her hands was bleeding (R 193). The second officer was allowed to testify that the head laceration was very deep and bleeding profusely. It was a jagged cut which went from the temple to the jaw and it was so deep that it completely penetrated the cheek. You could see right through it, he said (R 243). The physician testified that the cut was down to the bone and an inch wide. The cut actually went into the mouth and might have been stopped by the teeth (R 262). Approximately 100 stitches were taken in Day's face (R 268). In addition, a cut on her thumb extended down to a nerve and required surgery (R 266-267).

The District Court of Appeal held that, while admitting testimony regarding the nature and extent of the injuries might have been error, it was nonetheless harmless and could not be said to have affected the verdict.

The remaining state witness at the trial was a neighbor of Day's who testified that she was at Day's house that evening with Day and Latimore when Day received three or four phone calls. Day told Latimore to leave after the calls and he did so. After the neighbor left, Day went down the street and the neighbor saw a scuffle (R 170-174).

Petitioner testified that she did not have a knife when she went into the bar before the incident; a bartender lent her one to cut up some ribs and chicken she had brought with her, but she gave it back and didn't have it when she left (R 310-312).

After Petitioner left the bar, she waited on a corner for her father to pick her up. Petitioner saw Day approach from a "crack house" across the Street (R 317). Day approached and started swinging, saying she wanted to "fuck me up." A knife appeared in Day's hand (R 313-314). Day cut Petitioner on the arm and chest (R 315). Petitioner hit Day and Day dropped the knife. As they fought, Petitioner picked up the knife and Day picked up a white stick. Day swung the stick and Petitioner swung back with the knife (R 319-321).

In closing argument, the defense argued, among other things, self defense, and referred to the conflict on this issue between the testimony of Day and the testimony of Petitioner (R 410-412). The jury was instructed on self defense (R 431-432).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The defense was not allowed at trial to cross examine the victim on her long term drug abuse and addiction because she claimed that she was not on drugs at the time of the incident or of her testimony. The decision of the District Court of Appeal affirming this ruling was incorrect because even though the victim was not on drugs at those moments, she was nonetheless still an addict at those moments. Her addiction was therefore relevant to her capacities to observe, to remember, and to recount her observations truthfully. This is the position taken by the First District Court of Appeal and by the Illinois Supreme Court.

11.

The defense should have been allowed at trial to cross examine a state witness on his bias against Petitioner for her role in the death of his friend without the state bringing out on redirect that Petitioner might have provoked another man to begin shooting and hit the friend when Petitioner pulled a knife. The District Court of Appeal ruled that the defense's cross "opened the door" to the redirect, and it therefore refused to review the issue on the merits. However, the law in Florida at the time required the defense to proceed with its cross in order to

preserve the point for appeal. This Court must proceed to the merits and hold that the prior use of a knife was improper under the "Williams Rule."

III.

The District Court of Appeal held harmless the admission of evidence of the victim's severe knife wounds, even though it acknowledged the admission to be erroneous because the charge was aggravated battery with a deadly weapon rather than aggravated battery causing great bodily harm. This Court must overturn the holding of harmless because the severity of the wounds could have inspired sufficient jury sympathy to tip the otherwise close balance on the question of who was the aggressor in the fight between Petitioner and the victim.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL INCORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING EXCLUDING PROPOSED DEFENSE CROSS EXAMINATION OF THE VICTIM ON HER HABITUAL DRUG USE AND ADDICTION.

The victim of the aggravated battery charged in this case, Sandra Day, had been an habitual drug user and addict for 20 years. On proffered cross examination by the defense, Day admitted that she had been using drugs -- alcohol, heroin, and cocaine -- since age 15, with a few intervals for treatment and detoxification (R 91-94). The defense was not permitted by the trial court, however, to present to the jury this evidence of Day's prolonged drug use and addiction (R 101-102). The District Court of Appeal affirmed this ruling, stating that evidence of drug use was admissible only if it occurred at the time of the incident or at the time the drug user testified (page 2 of opinion, in Appendix).

Exclusion of the proffered testimony was a denial of Petitioner's absolute right to a fair and full cross examination of the witness. Coco v. State, 62 So.2d 892, 894 (Fla. 1953). Wide latitude is given in the cross examination of a witness to ascertain his opportunities for observation, his attention, his interest, and his truthfulness. Killingsworth v. State, 105 So. 834 (Fla. 1925). This Court recognized early that drug use may have an adverse effect on a witness' ability to observe an event and testify about it. In Eldridge v. State, 27 Fla. 162, 9 So.

448 (1891) and in Nelson v. State, 128 So. 1 (Fla. 1930), this Court stated that opium use is admissible if the witness was under the influence either at the time of the trial or at the time of the event about which the witness testifies. Eldridge, 9 So. at 453; Nelson, 128 So. at 3. (In fact, the drug at issue in Eldridge was morphine; in Nelson, it was cocaine.)

Eldridge and Nelson, however, dealt with discrete or occasional instances of drug use, rather than the habitual use and addiction involved in the instant case. Since in neither of those two cases did the discrete or occasional drug use occur at the time of the witness' observation or testimony, in each case it was excluded.¹ In the instant case, though, Sandra Day's use of drugs spanned most of her life. In fact, it appears that she was on drugs for more of her life than she was off them, and that during much of the time when she was off them she was undergoing treatment for addiction.

The times of the incident and of Day's testimony were merely two brief periods when she claimed to be off drugs. In June of 1986, four or five months before the incident, she had completed one program for heroin addiction and gone into another one for

¹ In Eldridge, the witness denied using morphine habitually; one rebuttal witness testified that she had seen him use it to excess during a period of one month, another had no knowledge other than that he had helped the witness pay for morphine, and a third knew the witness only slightly but said there was something peculiar about him that could not be attributed to anything but morphine. 9 So. at 453. In Nelson, the only evidence of drugs recited in the opinion was that the defendant said that the witness was drunk and that the liquor was "doped or something," and that the witness took some cocaine the day before the crime and offered some to the defendant. 128 So. at 3.

cocaine (R 90-94). She was free of drugs only until a few weeks after the incident; she acknowledged that she had started again, but she then claimed that she had stopped again before trial. However, she was taking medication for her craving for heroin and cocaine until a week before trial, and she was a member of Hope Without Dope and going to Narcotics Anonymous meetings at the time of the incident (R 95-97). Day acknowledged, "You're never cured" (R 99-100).

Thus, the instant case is substantially different from Eldridge and ~~Nelson~~. Sandra Day's brief periods without drugs -- coincidentally corresponding to the time of the incident and the time of trial -- do not bely her continuing condition of addiction. Even though Day may not have used drugs on a specific date, nonetheless she continued to be an acknowledged addict. Even if she did not use drugs on the specific days of the incident and of trial, she was on those dates an addict. Therefore, her continued pattern of drug use and addiction was a proper subject for cross examination. In effect, evidence of drug use on other dates still went to establish addiction on the dates of the incident and of trial.

The relevancy of drug use on other dates to show addiction on the dates of the incident and of trial is established by the line of cases from the First District Court of Appeal which is the basis for this Court's "conflict" jurisdiction in this case: Morrell v. State, 355 So.2d **836** (Fla. 1st DCA 1976): Cruz v. State, 437 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983): Duncan v. State, 450

So.2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). This line of cases is complementary and not contradictory to this Court's decisions in Eldridge and Nelson, and should be upheld.

Morrell, the lead case, like the instant case, dealt specifically with ongoing addiction, drug use, and treatment. The excluded defense cross examination was that the witness was addicted to narcotics and undergoing methadone treatment. It was the fact of addiction itself which the First District held to be a proper subject for cross examination. 335 So.2d at 838.² Morrell is entirely in keeping with Eldridge and Nelson because, although it acknowledged that the defense did not conclusively proffer proof that the witness was under the influence of drugs when the event occurred or when she was on the stand, its conclusion was that her addiction was relevant for the purpose of impeaching her credibility. Id.

Other jurisdictions as well are in line with Petitioner's position here.³ The Illinois Supreme Court takes the view that

² Cruz, on the other hand, need not have gone so far as to rely on Morrell, since the trial court there had excluded cross examination not only of drug use before the incident but also during the offense. 437 So.2d at 694. Plainly, Eldridge and Nelson were themselves sufficient authority for reversal.

³ The annotation at 65 ALR.3d 705, "Use Of Drugs As Affecting Competency Or Credibility Of Witness," points out that there is more than one view on the subject. The annotation does state as a general principle, though, that the vast majority of courts recognize that drug use may affect a witness' credibility. Id. at 712. Listed on page 728 of the annotation are decisions from several jurisdictions holding or recognizing that evidence of drug use by a witness is admissible for the purpose of impeaching credibility by showing a lack of veracity or tendency toward untruthfulness resulting from the use of drugs. In the discussion following the list there figure prominently cases involving habitual use or addiction.

the question of whether a witness is a narcotics addict is an important consideration in passing upon his credibility and that the testimony of a narcotics addict is subject to suspicion. People v. Lewis, 185 N.E.2d 168, 169 (Ill. 1962); People v. Strother, 290 N.E.2d 201, 204 (Ill. 1972); People v. Crump, 125 N.E.2d 615, 620 (Ill. 1955). The court has further stated that an addict's credibility is affected not only when he is shown to be under the influence of narcotics at the time of the occurrence or at the time of trial; "The effect of addiction on the ability to observe, accurately reflect and retain what was observed, and the general power and inclination towards truthfulness, all bring into focus the concern over the credibility of the addict's testimony." People v. Galloway, 319 N.E.2d 498, 501 (Ill. 1974). See also People v. Bazemore, 182 N.E.2d 649, 650 (Ill. 1962). As a result, the defense must be allowed to cross examine as to the witness' drug addiction for the purpose of impeaching his credibility. People v. Crump, supra, at 621.

Thus, the Illinois Supreme Court and the lower Illinois appellate courts have found reversible error in denial of cross examination on addiction even where the witness, like Sandra Day in the instant case, claims not to have used drugs at the time of the incident or at the time of trial. See People v. Lewis, supra (no use from a month before the incident to trial); People v. Strother, supra (no use claimed for ten years, but record showed use up to 16 or 17 days prior to trial); People v. Perez, 235 N.E.2d 335 (Ill. App. 1st Dist. 1968) (no use from two months

before the incident to trial; witness "kicking the habit"). In People v. DiMasco, 426 N.E.2d 972 (Ill. App. 1st Dist. 1981), it was held that evidence of the witness' treatment for addiction two months prior to the incident should have been admitted. Id. at 975. (Here, Sandra Day ended one treatment program and entered another four or five months before the incident.)

In the instant case, a prime issue was Sandra Day's credibility relevant to Petitioner's. Both Day and Petitioner testified that their fight was a mutual combat; they differed only as to who was the aggressor with the knife (R 72-78, 313-321). Petitioner asserted the defense of self defense (R 410-412), and there were no other direct witnesses to the fight besides her and Day. Denial of full cross examination for impeachment of Day's credibility was therefore highly prejudicial to the defense.

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