# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF LORIDA

FOR DAE D

MAY 5 1989

DERINDA EDWARDS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO: 73,286

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JAMES J. CARNEY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #475246 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

#

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

The ruling of the trial court correctly followed (if not exceeded) the holdings of <a href="Eldridge">Eldridge</a> and <a href="Nelson">Nelson</a>. If evidence of past drug use was admitted the jury would be left to pure speculation as to what effect the victim's prior drug use had on her testimony. Petitioner was given an opportunity to present medical evidence, but failed to do so. As stated by the Fourth District in <a href="Edwards v. State">Edwards v. State</a>, 530 So.2d 936, 937 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988):

The jury is the ultimate fact finder and in performing that role makes determinations

as to the credibility of each witness that takes the stand. When testimony about a witness' past use or misuse of drugs is introduced to discredit memory and perception of that witness without the benefit of expert medical or psychiatric explanation concerning effect of drug use on memory and jury perception, the permitted to draw uninformed and uneducated medical conclusions which they as lay persons are clearly unqualified to do. Indeed, there does not appear to be consensus in the medical community about long-term effects of drug use. We therefore decline to extend the scope of cross-examination in this area and hold that the trial court did not err excluding this testimony.

To the extent that the first district line of cases are read to conflict with <a href="Edwards">Edwards</a>, they are also in conflict with <a href="Nelson">Nelson</a> and <a href="Eldridge">Eldridge</a>.

Arguably, <u>Morrell v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), is not in direct conflict with <u>Edwards</u> as the majority opinion indicates that when the witness testified she was presently on methadone. <u>Id</u>. at 838. However, the first district goes on to state:

Although Morrell did not conclusively proffer proof that the prosecutrix was under the influence of drugs when the event occurred, or when she was on the stand to the extent that her mental faculties were impaired, it is evident that her drug addiction was a subject that was relevant to the facts charged.

As noted by the dissent, the holding is contrary to the holding in <u>Nelson</u> and <u>Eldridge</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 838-40. The first district effectively acknowledged this in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 692, 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) when it stated:

Florida jurisprudence has sanctioned the long admissibility of evidence disclosing that the witness took drugs either at the time he was testifying, or at the time of the occurrence of facts about which he had testified, for the of impeaching purpose credibility. Eldridge v. State, 27 Fla. 162, 9 So. 448 (1891); Nelson v. State, 99 Fla. 1032, 128 So. 1 (1930). Our court has gone further, by permitting evidence of the witness's drugtaking at times other during the occurrence of Morrell v. State, 335 offense. So.2d 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976)... (emphasis added)

This is directly contrary to Eldridge which stated:

The proof must go further, and establish either that the mind of the witness was impaired generally by the use of it, or at least under the influence of the opiate at the time the testimony was taken. testimony here offered by the state falls short of this test, and should have been excluded. There was no testimony to show that the witness Smith was under the influence of morphine either at the trial or at the time of event about which testified; nor is it shown that his mind was impaired generally by the use of morphine. 9 So. at 453.

See also Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence 8608.6 (2d ed. 1984) pp. 325 ("Although one Florida decision permitted the introduction of such evidence to attack the credibility of a witness when that witness was crucial to the prosecution's case [citing Morrel], the better view is that evidence of drug addiction or taking drugs at times other than the event or trial is admissible only if it can be shown to be relevant to the witnesses' ability to observe, remember and recount [citing Eldridge]" (footnotes omitted); Erhardt, Florida Evidence, 8608.6 (2d ed. 1988 Supp.) p. 118, n.14(criticizing Cruz and Duncan v. State, 450 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); and McCormick, Evidence (3d ed. 1988) p. 106 ("In respect to both addictions [alcohol and drugs] the excluding courts seem to have the better of the arguments. It can scarcely be considered that there is enough scientific agreement to warrant judicial notice that addictions in and of itself usually effects credibility. Certainly it is pregnant with prejudice." (footnotes omitted)).

Petitioner cites a number of Illinois cases for the proposition that "[t]he question of whether a witness is a narcotics addict is an important consideration in passing upon his credibility and that the testimony of a narcotics addict is subject to suspicion." (initial brief p. 15). In addition to the fact that the above authorities indicate the fallacy of such a position, to the extent petitioner is attempting to argue that addicts are inherently untruthful (as opposed to less able to accurately recall because of their condition), this was not her

position at trial (R 80). <u>See Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (specific theory behind reason for cross-examination not argued at trial will not be considered on appeal).

Further, the cases cited by petitioner are largely distinguishable. Although the victim in this case did state that "you are never cured", (in the same sense that an alcoholic who has not taken a drink for 10 years is never cured), she had not been taking drugs for approximately six months at the time of the attack and was not taking them at the time of trial. She was not an addict at these times in the sense that she was not taking The Illinois Supreme Court cases cited largely involve cases where the court found error in not allowing evidence that a witness was an "active" addict. See People v. Strother, 53 Ill. 2d 95, 290 N.E.2d 201, 202-203 (Ill. 1972) (error not to allow examination of witness' arm outside of jury's presence to determine if he was still an addict); People v. Perez, 92 Ill. App. 2d 366, 235 N.E. 2d 335, 337 (Ill. 1968) (district court case-where there was medical testimony that the witness was suffering from narcotics withdrawal the day after the incident and that he was a former addict, it was error not to allow an examination of his arm to see if he were still an addict); People v. Lewis, 25 Ill. 2d 396, 185 N.E. 2d 168, 169 (Ill. 1962) (Where witness testified on direct that he was a narcotics addict up to a month before the incident, it was error not to allow examination of his arm); People v. Bazemore, 25 Ill. 2d 74, 182

N.E. 2d 649, 650-51 (Ill. 1962) (Evidence insufficient to convict where it consisted solely of unsubstantiated testimony by informant (who was taking two shots a day at the time of the sale) that he had sold defendant drugs), and <a href="People v. Crump">People v. Crump</a>, 5 Ill. 2d 251, 125 N.E. 2d 615, 621 (1955) (jury entitled to know whether witness "was or had been a drug addict or had used narcotics on the day of the alleged crime...").

The trial court in this case properly kept this information from the jury. To do otherwise would be to allow uninformed speculation. It cannot be said that the judge abused his broad discretion. See Booker v. State, 514 So.2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 1987) (defining what constitutes an abuse of discretion); Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046, 1050 (Fla. 1985) (scope and control of cross-examination is within trial court's discretion).

Finally, assuming the trial court's ruling can somehow be construed as error, it was certainly harmless. The jury was told that the victim was an adultress, and lived in a drug infested area (R 135). The fact that the victim had been a narcotics addict and had a problem with drugs was brought out on cross-examination (R 121) and emphasized by defense counsel in closing argument (R 402).

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR TO CONDUCT REDIRECT EXAMINATION OF A WITNESS AS TO MATTERS BROUGHT UP DURING CROSS-EXAMINATION.

Initially, it should be noted that State v. Wilson, 509 So.2d 1281 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), is clearly not in conflict with the present case so it is not necessary for this Court to address this issue. See g.g. Barket v. State, 356 So.2d 263, 264 (Fla.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 843, 99 S.Ct. 136, 58 L Ed. 2d 142 (1978). The issue regarding the cross-examination of James Jackson was not decided on grounds of preservation (as in Wilson) but rather on the theory that petitioner opened the door to the State's questioning. Petitioner seems to suggest that she somehow relied on Wilson to her detriment at the time of trial. As a third district case, it had no precedential value. Further, it is highly unlikely that any reliance was placed on Wilson as it was not decided at the time of trial.

Petitioner complains that the trial court erred when it allowed the prosecutor, on redirect examination, to bring out alleged  $\frac{\text{Williams}}{\text{L}}$  Rule evidence. Respondent maintains, however,

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Use Milliams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1958), cert. denied, 361
Use Milliams v. State, 102, 4 L. Ed. 2d 86.

that petitioner's argument is totally without merit. This was simply a tactical decision made by defense counsel.

In the case sub judice, petitioner sought to crossexamine witness James Jackson regarding his alleged bias. Petitioner sought to attack Jackson's credibility by showing that he was biased because he blamed petitioner for the shooting death of a close friend. During that episode petitioner had pulled a knife and cut a Mr. Craig in the throat (R 50). She then used Mr. Jackson's friend as cover, which resulted in the friend being shot and killed by Craig (R 23-24, 49). Petitioner wanted this incident to come out to show possible bias, but some how wanted it to be restricted so that the knife was not mentioned. Defense counsel stated that he would have no problem if this encounter had involved his client's use of a gun, but he believed mention of the knife was prejudicial (R 26-27). The trial court ruled that cross-examination of Jackson as to this matter would "open the door" for the State to inquire further on redirect. (R 34-The judge stated that he felt that if the subject was brought up, the prosecution should have a right to go into the reason for the alleged bias (R 34). Knowing the trial court's ruling as to this matter, petitioner cross-examined Jackson as to the prior incident to show his possible bias against petitioner. (R 45). On redirect, the State examined Jackson along the line initiated by petitioner. Her use of a knife during that incident was then brought out. (R 48-49).

Petitioner complains that references to her use of a knife in a prior incident constituted Williams Rule evidence, and exceeded the scope of cross-examination. Respondent disagrees. The objective of redirect examination is to explain, correct, or modify the testimony gathered form cross-examination. Jones v. State, 440 So. 2d 570, 576 (Fla. 1983); Hinton v. State, 347 So.2d 1079, 1080 (Fla. 3d DCA, cert. denied, 354 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1977). Redirect examination in this regard may even be conducted even though it has a tendency to suggest the commission of a separate crime. Id. Respondent submits that when petitioner brought out her involvement in a prior incident involving a knife during cross-examination, the State was properly allowed to delve into this previously unexplored area on redirect. Jones, Hinton. Read in context, the prosecutor's examination of Jackson, was in response to a line of questioning initiated by petitioner and fell within the bounds of fair reply permissible in this instance. Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Helton v. State, 424 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), pet. for rev. denied, 433 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1983).

Further, even assuming <u>arguendo</u>, this was collateral crime evidence, as stated by the trial judge and the prosecution, the testimony was relevant to fully demonstrate the reasonableness of Mr. Jackson's opinion that petitioner was responsible for his friend's death. (R 25, 28, 34-35). See <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1988) cert. denied, \_\_\_S. Ct. \_\_(U.S. Apr. 17, 1989) (collateral crime evidence is admissible

if relevant for any purpose other than only propensity or bad character). Petitioner was told that an inquiry into this matter would "open the door" to an inquiry by the State. She should not be allowed to cry foul since it was her counsel's initial questioning during cross-examination which led the prosecutor to ask the complained-of questions on redirect. Petitioner cannot initiate alleged error and then seek reversal based on that error. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert</u>. denied 439 U.S. 1102, 99 S.Ct. 881, 59 L.Ed. 2d 63 (1979); <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983); <u>United States v. Trujillo</u>, 714 F.2d 102 (11thCir. 1983). <u>See also</u>, <u>Medina v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 1046, 1047 (Fla. 1985) (Trial judge correctly cautioned defense counsel that pursuing the stabbing (alleged <u>Williams</u> rule evidence) on cross-examination would open that matter to intensive examination).

In any event, any error would be harmless where it did not affect the verdict. Colwell v. State, 448 So.2d 540 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Adan v. State, 453 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Clark v. State, 378 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

#### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY AS TO THE VICTIM'S INJURIES.

Initially, it should be noted that this issue has nothing to do with this Court's conflict jurisdiction and need not be addressed by this Court. See e.g. Barket, 356 So.2d at 264.

Petitioner complains that the trial court committed reversible error when it allowed testimony regarding the victim's injuries. Respondent maintains, however, that petitioner's argument is without merit. Petitioner was charged by information with aggravated battery with a deadly weapon in violation of \$784.045, Florida Statutes (1985). (R 451). This crime requires proof of a battery, either a misdemeanor or a felony, and the use of a deadly weapon. Parker v. State, 482 So.2d 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). With this in mind, testimony regarding the victim's injuries were admissible since it was relevant to the offense charged, which necessarily included a battery. McGriff v. State, 417 So.2d 300 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

Appellee would also argue that even if it was error for the trial court to allow testimony regarding the victim's injuries, such error would have been harmless.

Prior to petitioner's objection (R 193) there was extensive testimony regarding the victim's injuries. The victim

testified that petitioner cut her hand (R 76). She also testified and showed the jury that "she cut me from here to all the way to here (R 77, 178). She removed her headband to fully display the injuries (R 78). She testified that she had her sister hold a towel over her face and call "911". She was taken to the hospital (R 77). Her sister said, "you face cut open." (R 77).

Elizabeth Coffee testified that blood was "all over [the victim's] face and her face was covered all with it. I held it and I still see that right now today." (R 178). She also testified that the victim's finger was bleeding and that she called for medical help (R 178). Deputy Martin Karl Woodside testified that when he arrived at the scene he found the victim "laying on the steps in front of a house bleeding profusely from the mouth and side of her face with another black female administering first aid..." (R 191). Only after trhe presentation of the above evidence, did petitioner object to testimony regarding the victim's injuries (R 193). Accordingly, the additional testimony regarding the injuries was merely cumulative and can only be deemed harmless. Additionally, the testimony, standing alone, does not rise to the level of reversible error. Lee v. State, 444 So.2d 580 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, the trial court committed no error.